2007

Jimmy Zufelt, an individual v. Haste, Inc., a Utah Corporation and Harry Gounaris, an individual : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF APPELLATE COURT

Jurisdiction. The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78-2a-3(2)(j)(2002) over this case, which was transferred from the Utah Supreme Court under Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(4)(2002). The Supreme Court had original jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. §78-2-2(3)(j)(2002) (appeal from final judgment).

ISSUE AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

Issue: Did the trial court erroneously conclude that it was not necessary to require the return of the sequestered funds in the amount of \$64,144.90¹, to the Court's Registry, once it dismissed Zufelt's complaint. The trial court so ruled on January 11, 2007; (R. 0053-001157) (Addendum: Exhibit 1).

Standard of review: "A trial court's ruling on a motion to dismiss is a question of law." *State v. Mower*, 2005 UT App 438, ¶6, 124 P. 3d 265. The trial court's determination of refusing to require the return of the \$64,144.90, (less one half of that

¹Gounaris does not seek a review of the trial court's decision to award Bankruptcy Trustee Rupp one half of the sequestered money. This appeal does not seek the return of the one half of the \$64,144.90 received by Intervenor Rupp. It is not an issue in this appeal. For purposes of this appeal Gounaris claims are limited to the recovery of \$32,072.45. That was the amount that Zufelt and his attorney kept from the sequestered funds.

For purposes of this appeal defendants Haste Inc., and Harry Gounaris shall be collectively referred to as "Gounaris."

amount which was the entitlement of Bankruptcy Trustee Rupp) is a question of law, when it granted plaintiff's motion to dismiss plaintiff's complaint. This Court reviews such questions for correctness, according no particular deference to the trial court. State v. Taylor, 884 P.2d 1293 (Utah Ct. App. 1994). Each of the issue arises from legal determination and conclusions of the trial court; the Court of Appeals reviews the same under a correctness standard, granting no deference to the trial court's decision. Under a correctness standard, "the appellate court decides the matter for itself and does not defer in any degree to the trial judge's determination of law." State v. Pena, 869 P.2d 932, 936 (Utah 1994).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE TO THIS APPEAL

The following are the Constitutional provisions of central importance to this Appeal: United States Constitution Amendment XIV, § 1; Utah Constitution Art. I, § 7.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case in which the trial court threw out [again] the baby with the bath water.

This time the trial court allowed \$32,072.45 to be removed from the Court's Registry and to be given to Zufelt. Zufelt had a windfall of \$32,072.45; Zufelt did not have to prove one element of his claims against Gounaris. Zufelt obtained \$32,072.45 without having the trial court passing upon the sufficiency of his claims against

Gounaris.

This Court on August 3, 2006, entered its decision reversing the trial court; see: 2006 UT App 326; (R. 001103-001106). Remittitur was issued on October 6, 2006. (R. 001107).

Zufelt filed a motion to dismiss its own complaint; Zufelt's motion is dated October 4, 2006, and entered of record in the files of the trial court on October 10, 2006. (R. 001108-001109). The basis of Zufelt's motion to dismiss Zufelt's complaint is the fact that he lost interest in the case, and that Gounaris did not file a counterclaim. (R. 001111).

Gounaris filed no objection to Zufelt's motion for a dismissal with prejudice.

However, on October 23, 2006, Gounaris filed a response to Zufelt's motion asking the trial court to return back to the jurisdiction of the trial court the \$59,584.55; Gounaris asked the court to order Zufelt to return the removed monies to the court's Registry; it was the money that was delivered to Zufelt as of that date. (R. 001121-001126). As of the date of Zufelt's motion to dismiss, Zufelt had removed from the trial court's Registry the sum of \$64,144.90.

Upon the matter being remanded to the trial court pursuant to the decision of this Court, on October 23, 2006, Gounaris also filed the following: A motion to rescind all prior orders of the Court and for the return of the monies. (R. 001130-001133). A

memorandum accompanied Gounaris' motion. R. 001134-001139. A request for hearing was also made by Gounaris; on Zufelt's motion to dismiss R. 001127-001129. And, upon Gounaris' motion for disgorgement; R. 001140-001142.

The Court did not to grant a hearing on any requested matter, and entered its Ruling on January 11, 2007. (R. 001153-001157).

This appeal ensued.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Zufelt filed his complaint against Steven Kallinikos and Haste, Inc., on September 27, 2000. (R. 025). Gounaris is not a named defendant.

2. Zufelt files his amended complaint on January 25, 2001. Again Gounaris is not a named defendant. (R. 068-073).

3. Zufelt files his Second Amended Complaint on February 14, 2001. Kallinikos having filed bankruptcy on February 13, 2001, is dismissed as a party defendant, and Gounaris is named as a substituted named defendant. (R. 115-119).

4. Gounaris files an answer to Zufelt's Second Amended Complaint setting forth therein defendants' answer and affirmative defenses. (R. 140-151)

5. After almost 4 years of litigation in the district court, Zufelt makes a motion to strike the pleadings and for the entry of judgment based on a lack of standing by Gounaris to assert defenses on behalf of Haste.

6. On October 28, 2004, the trial court entered its Order granting Zufelt's motion to strike or dismiss or enter judgment for lack of standing, holding that Gounaris had no standing to act for or on behalf of Haste, Inc.. (R. 935-936).

7. The trial court's Order granting Zufelt summary judgment on October 28, 2004, was reversed by this Court on August 3, 2006.

8. On November 24, 2004, Gounaris filed its Notice of Appeal to the Utah Supreme Court. (R. 937-938).

9. On January 15, 2005, Zufelt made an Ex-Parte Motion and obtained an Order Granting [Ex parte] Motion to Authorize Disbursement of Funds, From Court's Registry. (R. 1055-1056)

10. This Court on August 3, 2006, entered its decision reversing the trial court; see: 2006 UT App 326; (R. 001103-001106). Remittitur was issued on October 6, 2006. (R. 001107).

11. On October 10, 2006, Zufelt filed a motion dated October 4, 2006, to dismiss its own complaint. (R. 001108-001109).

12. The basis of Zufelt's motion to dismiss Zufelt's complaint is that Zufelt had lost interest in the case, and that Gounaris did not file a counterclaim. (R. 001111).

13. Gounaris filed no objection to Zufelt's motion for a dismissal with prejudice.

14. However, on October 23, 2006, Gounaris requested the trial court to return

back to the jurisdiction of the trial court [Registry] the \$59,584.55; it was the money that was delivered to Zufelt as of that date. (R. 001121-001126).

15. As of the date of Zufelt's motion to dismiss, Zufelt had removed from the trial court's Registry the sum of \$64,144.90.

16. Upon the matter being remanded to the trial court pursuant to the decision of this Court, on October 23, 2006, Gounaris filed the following with the trial court:

- a. A motion to rescind all prior orders of the Court and for the return of the monies. (R. 001130-001133).
- b. A memorandum accompanied Gounaris' motion. (R. 001134-001139).
- c. A request for hearing was also made by Gounaris on Zufelt's motion to dismiss R. 001127-001129; and, upon Gounaris' motion for disgorgement and for the return of the monies to the Registry of the Court; (R. 001140-001142).

17. The Court did not to grant a hearing on any requested matter, and entered its Ruling on January 11, 2007. (R. 001153-001157).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court again erroneously concluded that Gounaris lost his money which was being accumulated in the Court's Registry. On the day that this Court

entered its decision reversing the trial court, Zufelt had the legal obligation to prove before the trier of fact, each and every element of either one of the first or second cause of action contained in his Second Amended Complaint; only then, after the submission of proof would Zufelt be entitled to part of the sequestered money.

Gounaris never had an opportunity to contest in a court of law Zufelt's allegations. Zufelt did not discharge his obligation to prove by preponderance of the evidence that he was entitled to receive Gounaris' money. Zufelt filed his complaint against Steven Kallinikos and Haste Inc.. Zufelt obtained \$32,072.45 in the absence of any legal process. There is no pleading on file which would show that Zufelt is entitled to receive \$32,072.45.

The anomaly created by Judge Howard's earlier order of release of the funds, while the case was on appeal, created this inequitable result; it gave Zufelt an undeserved \$32,072.45. Gounaris had a right to the \$32,072.45; it was his money; and not Zufelt's.

ARGUMENT

**THE DISTRICT COURT AGAIN IMPROPERLY
DISREGARDED THE MANDATE OF THIS COURT
AND DID NOT ORDER THE MONIES TO COME
BACK TO THE REGISTRY OF THE COURT FOR
SUBSEQUENT HEARINGS AS TO THE MONIES' DISPOSITION.**

It is axiomatic that a reversal of judgment of a lower court places the case in a

position that it was before the lower court rendered judgment. The applicable law in this case is as follows. A reversal of judgment of a lower court places the case in the position that it was before the lower court rendered judgment. **It vacates all proceedings and orders dependent upon the decision which was reversed.** A decision of an Appellate Court reversing a trial court judgment automatically sets aside the prior decision of the trial court, when the decision of the Appellate Court was filed in trial court. *Phebus v. Dunford*, 198 P.2d 973 (Utah 1948).

This area of the law is well settled in Utah. It arose the first time in 1948; and, since 1948 no other case in the State of Utah has dealt with a similar issue. On August 6, 2006, the trial court was reversed upon appeal; the matter was remanded to the trial court for further proceedings consistent with the Appellate decision. Upon its remand the law demands that all prior proceedings and orders of the trial court, dependent upon the reversed decision be vacated.

The trial court failed to vacate its prior orders. The trial court failed to require Zufelt to return to the Registry the withdrawn money. Zufelt did not have any legal or equitable right in the money being collected and accumulated in the Registry of the trial court. Except as to the money which was given to the Bankruptcy Trustee, the money so collected in the Registry did not belong to Zufelt. Zufelt had no color of right to, or title to the monies.

The district court has failed to exercise its unique ability to fashion an equitable remedy by ordering Zufelt to return the funds it withdrew from the Registry of the Court. Parduhn v. Bennet, 2005 UT 22 ¶23, 112 P.3d 495. Under the “law of the case” doctrine, when an appellate court makes a pronouncement on a legal issue, the lower court must not depart from the mandate, and any change with respect to the legal issue governed by the mandate must be made by the appellate court that established it, even if the lower court believes that the issue could have been better decided in another fashion. Jensen v. IHC Hospitals, Inc., 486 Utah Adv, Rep. 60 Utah 2003. Gildea v. Guardian Title Co. Of Utah, 31 P.3d 543, Utah 2001. The law of the case doctrine was developed to promote the obedience of inferior courts as well as to avoid the delays and difficulties in repetitious contentions and reconsideration of rulings on matters previously decided in the same case. Gildea v. Guardian Title Co. Of Utah, 31 P.3d 543, Utah 2001. The decision of the Supreme Court approving finding is binding on parties and on trial court. Schulder v. Ellis, 286 P. 620. Utah 1930.

Other jurisdictions have ruled similarly. A judgment after it was reversed was without any validity, force or effect. Keller v. Hall, 111 F.2d 129, C.A. Ariz., 1940. Reversed judgment is nullity, and after reversal matter stands as if no judgment had been rendered. Bondy v. Harvey, 62 F.2d 256, C.A. 10 Okla., 1932. The reversal of a judgment restores the parties to the condition in which they stood before it was

rendered. Harvey v. Richards, 11 F.Cas. 740, C.C. Mass., 1814. An unqualified reversal, without direction to the Court, is effective to remand the case for new trial and places the parties in the same position as if the case had never been tried. Gospel Army v. City of Los Angeles, 67 S. Ct. 1428, U.S. Cal., 1947.

I. The trial court erroneously failed to consider defendants' claims consistent with the Utah Court of Appeals mandate in the Appellate Court's opinion issued on August 3, 2006.

On August 3, 2006, in reversing the trial court the Utah Court of Appeals remanded the case to the district court for further proceedings consistent with this opinion." (R. 001103-001106). Gounaris should have been given an opportunity to litigate the issue of his stock ownership in Haste, Inc.. Zufelt elected to move to dismiss his claims against both Haste Inc., and Gounaris. Nobody questions Zufelt's right to dismiss his own complaint against the defendants.

Upon the issuance of the Remittitur on October 10, 2006, (R. 001107) all prior orders and proceedings were nullified. The Remittitur set aside all prior orders and proceedings had before the trial court. Phebus v. Dunford, 198 P.2d 973 (Utah 1948). The trial court had the obligation to require Zufelt to bring the \$32,072.45 back into the Registry of the Court.

The legal effect of obtaining a dismissal like the one at bar is that Zufelt has obtained \$32,072.45 which was not his; Zufelt did not have a right to that money. Zufelt

did not prove that he was entitled to \$32,072.45. Zufelt did not have a money judgment against any of the Gounaris. It was Gounaris' money; the money was subject to Zufelt's lawsuit. Zufelt did not offer any evidence to the trial court that Zufelt was entitled to the money on deposit with the Registry of the Court. The only reason that Zufelt was able to remove the money from the Registry was because the trial court had granted his motion for summary judgment. But that judgment was reversed by this court. How can Zufelt keep the money in view of this court's mandate in reversing the legal basis for obtaining the judgment. Gounaris did not consent that Zufelt should get the money. Zufelt did not prove that he was entitled to the money.

Zufelt was not entitled to the \$32,072.45. No order or ruling was made or entered by the trial court to the effect that Zufelt had prevailed upon the merits of Zufelt's Second Amended Complaint against Gounaris. The trial court did not enter any order granting judgment to Zufelt against Gounaris for any amount whatsoever.

The trial court failed to "fashion and equitable remedy" after its decision was reversed. Instead of ordering the funds to be returned to the court's Registry, it allowed Zufelt to keep them; it disregarded the Appellate mandate. The removal by Zufelt and the keeping of the \$32,072.45 without first obtaining a money judgment order, constitutes constructive trust upon the funds so removed.

The practical effect of the trial court's refusal to order the bringing back of the

monies to the court's Registry, for proper disposition, pursuant to proof and after appropriate hearing, violates the sense of fairness and fair play. It is a basic question of fairness. The trial court's refusal to consider the ramification of its failure to order the return of the funds to the court's Registry is fundamentally unfair to the defendants.

The trial court's failure to vacate its prior order, and to not order the return of the monies to the court's Registry constitutes reversible error. This Court should enter judgment against Zufelt ordering him to return to the court's Registry the \$32,072.45.

II. The trial court erroneously failed to require the return of the withdrawn funds by Zufelt in the sum of \$64,144.90 to the Registry of the Court.

Zufelt did not present any evidence to the trial court meeting his burden of proof that he was entitled to any of the funds owed by the Nuttalls on the Note. Under the best possible interpretation of the facts of this case Zufelt was nothing more than a creditor of Kallinikos. Furthermore, under the best case scenario as it relates to Zufelt's claims against Haste Inc., Zufelt has made some unproven allegations that Haste was an obligor under a lease agreement. That was only an inchoate claim subject to proof by Zufelt; and, subject to the defenses that Gounaris, the other one half shareholder, had against Zufelt. Gounaris had not had an opportunity to present his claims and defenses against Zufelt's claims. Yet Zufelt was allowed to keep \$32,072.45 without presenting a scintilla of evidence showing that he was entitled to judgment.

There was no legal basis whatsoever for Zufelt to be allowed to keep the money that it obtained from the Court's Registry. The trial court's order to allow Zufelt to keep the money is an error. This Court should order that the money should be returned to the trial court's Registry, and that the same be withdrawn by Gounaris.

III. Gounaris was denied Due Process of Law. The trial court erred in refusing to order the return of the withdrawn funds of \$64,144.90 back to the Registry of the trial court.

It is submitted that when the trial court refused to order the return of the funds to the Court's Registry, it violated Gounaris' rights to "substantive due process." The trial court's refusal to order the return of the funds to the Court's Registry, deprived Gounaris of their right to trial, and to Gounaris' day in court, under the "Due Process and Open Courts Clauses of the Utah Constitution. By not ordering the funds be returned to the Court's Registry, the trial court allowed Zufelt to receive \$32,072.45 without the benefit of any judgment awarding any money to Zufelt.

The trial court's erred in refusing to order the return of the withdrawn funds of \$64,144.90 back to the Registry of the trial court; it thus deprived the defendants of their right to trial, and to their day in court, under the "Due Process and Open Courts Clauses" of the Utah Constitution. The trial court allowed plaintiff to receive \$32,072.45 without the benefit of any judgment awarding any money to plaintiff.

The focus of the inquiry is directed to what process was due to Gounaris before

the trial court could dispose of the monies in the court Registry. In this instance, the issue of whether Gounaris was afforded adequate due process is a question of law which this Court examines without extending deference to the district court. "[I]ssues, including . . . due process, are questions of law which we review for correctness." *D.A. v. State* (*State ex rel. S.A.*), 2001 UT App 307, ¶8, 37 P.3d 1166 (internal quotation marks omitted); *see also State v. Holland*, 921 P.2d 430, 433 (Utah 1996) ("[T]he ultimate question of whether the trial court strictly complied with constitutional and procedural requirements . . . is a question of law that is reviewed for correctness.").

In the instant case Gounaris was deprived of his rights under the Substantive Due Process theory. Gounaris was denied his day in court and that was a "substantive due process denial."

Gounaris was also deprived of his rights under the "Procedural Due Process" theory of his case. The January 11, 2007, trial Court Ruling was granted summarily. The district court did not hear argument of counsel. It found that there were briefing inadequacies; it found that applicable authorities as to the disposition of the funds were not provided to the Court. The undersigned attorney apologizes to the trial court for the undersigned's failure to provide the legal authority expected by the trial court. The trial court thought it necessary so that it may have ordered the return of the monies to the court Registry for further disposition. Fundamentally however, Zufelt had the

burden of proof to prove the elements of each and every cause of action that he has plead in his Second Amended Complaint; before Zufelt was going to be allowed to keep the \$32,072.45. Zufelt presented no proof to the trial court. The trial court decided not to put Zufelt to the proof of his evidence. No evidence was taken by the Court as why Zufelt was entitled to any money.

Gounaris was deprived of his “due process” entitlement. On matters of constitutional and procedural requirements it is submitted that Gounaris should be provided with a modicum of his “due process” safeguards for his rights. In the Brigham Young University v. Tremco Consultants et. al., 2007 UT 17, 570 Utah Adv. Rep. 66 (2007) case the Utah Supreme Court deciding a similar argument stated the following:

[n]o opposition to the motion was made by anyone on behalf of SoftSolutions, Inc. and therefore the dispositive facts set forth in BYU's memoranda in support of the motion are deemed admitted pursuant to Rule 4-501(2)(B) of the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration and/or pursuant to Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

To the extent that our nondeferential due process analysis requires us to review the facts, we will do so guided by our standards for reviewing appeals from summary judgment and indulge inferences emanating from the facts in a manner favorable to Duncan et al. *Spor v. Crested Butte Silver Mining, Inc.*, 740 P.2d 1304 (Utah 1987). *Id.* at ¶26.

Gounaris has been denied his requisite measure of due process when the district court deprived him of \$32,072.45 which was part of the proceeds in the court's Registry. Zufelt had the burden of proof to prove that he was entitled to one half of the proceeds

on deposit with the Court Registry. Gounaris was not given an opportunity to present any evidence to counter any of the unproven allegations contained in the Second Amended Complaint.

The Utah Supreme Court further said:

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