2007

Jimmy Zufelt v. Haste, Inc., Harry Gounaris : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court found that Defendants, Haste, Inc., and Harry Gounaris (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Gounaris”) arguments and briefing before it were inadequate. The Court of Appeals may and should likewise find that Gounaris’ Brief is inadequate and devoid of meaningful legal analysis. Gounaris’ brief is particularly lacking in meaningful analysis relating to his claim that he has been deprived of due process. Gounaris had many opportunities to cure his inadequate briefing, including but not limited to raising and identifying the disbursement order in his first appeal, filing a petition for a rehearing asking the court to clarify the return of monies, timely seeking and adequately requesting a stay pending appeal, posting a supersedeas bond and affirmatively opposing the motion to dismiss etc.

Under these circumstances, Gounaris was provided many opportunities to have his grievance(s) considered. Because his briefing was found to be and is still inadequate, he was not deprived of due process. In fact, the Court now lacks jurisdiction over Zufelt and this appeal on the basis that Gounaris could have obtained but failed to obtain a stay pending appeal. Circumstances have now changed so as to make further pursuit of the appeal moot. In the interests of judicial economy, finality and the interest of the parties, Gounaris should not now be permitted to bring yet another separate piecemeal appeal.

ARGUMENT

I GOUNARIS' CLAIM FOR THAT HE WAS DENIED SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS CAN'T BE RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL

Gounaris' present Brief, like his briefing before the trial court, is inadequate.

(Appellant's Brief, Exhibit 1, Paragraph 1, p. 2-5). The thrust of Gounaris' argument in the first half of his Brief seems to be that a reversal by the Court of Appeals "...vacates all proceedings and orders [including those he failed to identify in his first brief] dependent upon the decision which was reversed." (Appellant's Brief, p. 8).³ In short, Gounaris' present Brief again treats this Court as if it is "a depository in which the appealing party [Gounaris] may dump the burden of argument and research." *State v. Thomas*, 961 P.2d 299, 305 (Utah 1998).

Rule 24(a) of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure (hereinafter "URAP") states that the argument in the Appellant's brief "shall contain the contentions and reasons of the appellant with respect to the issues presented...with citations to the authorities, statutes and parts of the record relied on." Most importantly, URAP 24(a) "...requires not just bald citation to authority but development of that authority and reasoned analysis based on that authority." *Id.* at 305. Moreover, it is the responsibility of the Appellant to marshal the evidence, i.e., connect the dots and properly cite to the record. Gounaris

³ Gounaris cites to *Phebus v. Dunford*, 198 P.2d 973 (Utah 1948) for this proposition. Zufelt does not disagree with this proposition. However, as a practical matter if Gounaris fails to specifically identify those orders within the case which are relevant to the appeal, particularly if a reversal ensues, then it is difficult to understand how any court is supposed to *ipso facto* include or exclude the same from a judgment or order.

Brief fails to either provide reasoned analysis or marshal the evidence.⁴

The second half of Gounaris' Brief is devoted to asserting a constitutional claim for violation of substantive due process. (Appellant's Brief, p. 13). However, Gounaris' Brief fails to raise or discuss the intricacies involved in asserting and properly briefing such claims, including the standard of review and especially where such claims are raised for the first time on appeal. Constitutional arguments regarding ...due process present questions of law. *See State v. One 1980 Cadillac*, 2001 UT 26, ¶ 8, 21 P.3d 211 (Utah 2001).

Whether due process has been violated depends upon the amount of due process granted. *See Brigham Young Univ. v. Tremco Consultants, Inc.*, 2007 P.3d (2007 UT 17) Whether Gounaris was afforded adequate due process is a question of law which may be explored "without extending deference to the district court. Issues, including...due process, are questions of law which we review for correctness. *Id.* citing to *D.A. v. State (State ex rel. S.A.)*, 2001 UT App 307, ¶ 8. While the measurement of the amount of due process in a particular setting may be difficult, "[t]he bare essentials of due process thus mandate adequate notice to those with an interest in the matter and an opportunity for them to be heard in a meaningful manner." In other words, due process simply requires a

⁴ This is why Zufelt was dissatisfied with Gounaris' statement of the issues and chose to supplement the same within the meaning of URAP 24(b)(1).

hearing before condemnation. *Brigham Young Univ.*, at ¶ 28.⁵

Gounaris had the opportunity and obligation to raise this issue with respect to the first appeal. However, Gounaris failed to mention, disclose or discuss the impact or importance of the disbursement order in his first brief and appeal. The decision of the Court of Appeals reversing the district court, not surprisingly, fails to specifically mention the disbursement order. Gounaris argued to the district court (Appellant's Brief, Exhibit 1, p. 2, ¶ 1) and now argues to this Court that the reversal by this Court implicitly includes the disbursement order. However, "[i]ssues that could have been raised in the first appeal but were not raised are waived. *MacKay v. Hardy*, 973 P.2d 941, 947 (Utah 1998).⁶ The reason for this is that judicial economy and the parties' interests (emphasis added) in the finality of judgments are in no way furthered if the parties are allowed to engage in piecemeal appeals." *MacKay*, at 947.

Gounaris could have likewise cured the problem which he faces if he had obtained

⁵ Gounaris, unlike the Duncan defendant in *Brigham Young Univ.*, who was not a named party, did have ample opportunity to defend his interests in this civil action. "The same process is not, however, due everyone who comes before the court. *Brigham Young Univ.*, ¶ 30.

⁶ In *MacKay*, the court stated that "[t]his issue involves the district court's original judgment. Therefore, they [Gounaris] should have raised this issue in their [his] first appeal." *Id.* at p. 947. Not only did Gounaris properly fail to raise the issue in the first appeal, but Gounaris likewise failed to petition the Court for a rehearing within the meaning of Rule 35 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure. Judge Howard specifically stated in his Ruling that "...the Defendants do not point the Court to any language from the opinion of the Court of Appeals to support this assertion. The Court has reviewed the Appellate Court's decision and the Court cannot identify the language upon which the Defendants base their assertion relative to the return of the money." (Appellants' Brief, Exhibit 1, pp. 1-2).

a stay pending appeal. His attempt to obtain a stay was similarly deficient. This court, like the trial court, determined that his motion was deficient. *See Exhibit 1 hereto*. The record is replete with numerous instances in which Gounaris could have, or should have, cured these deficiencies—but failed to do so. Is it any wonder that the district court, exasperated with such deficiencies, finally and appropriately determined that Gounaris had already had sufficient “bites at the apple?”

In this case, it is apparent that the trial court considered Gounaris’ motions and memoranda to rescind all prior orders of the Court and for return of the monies and for disgorgement of the same. (Appellant’s Brief, p. 6, ¶ 16(a)). *See Ruling Re: Plaintiff’s Motion to Dismiss*. (Appellant’s Brief, Exhibit 1, p. 1, ¶ 2). The trial court found Gounaris’ motions, memoranda, analysis and reasoning to be deficient. The trial court declined (and rightfully so given the protracted and costly litigation history) to divine what the Defendant’s arguments should be and how it [Gounaris] should connect law or evidence with argument. *Id.* at p 3, ¶ 2. Therefore, Gounaris was not denied due process. His claims were considered (albeit without a hearing because the court determined that no hearing was necessary) and rejected, primarily because Gounaris had sufficient opportunity, failed to carry his burden of proof, and the interests of finality and judicial economy so warranted.

II THE COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO CONSIDER THIS APPEAL OR ALTERNATIVELY, THE APPEAL IS MOOT.

Gounaris failed to object to Zufelt’s dismissal with prejudice. Furthermore,

Gounaris' notice of appeal did not raise Zufelt's dismissal as part of the order being appealed⁷. Failure to object to the dismissal of Zufelt and to note the same in its notice of appeal is jurisdictional. See *Jensen Intermountain Power Agency*, 977 P.2d 474, 476 (Utah 1999). The exclusion within the notice of appeal appears to be intentional and not a mere oversight or error in description. Without jurisdiction over Zufelt, one of the entities that received the funds which are the subject of this appeal, the appeal must be dismissed. See *Brigham Young University v. Tremco Consultants, Inc.*, 110 P.3d 678, ¶'s 45-46, (Utah 2005). Zufelt hereby renews his request for summary disposition of the appeal.⁸ Consequently, this issue (the denial of substantive due process) is being raised improperly for the first time on appeal and is therefore untimely. See *R.T. Nielsen v. Cook*, 40 P.3d 1119 (Utah 2002).

Alternatively, Gounaris' appeal has been rendered moot. In *Richards. v. Baum*, 914 P.2d 719 (Utah 1996) the Utah Supreme Court considered an analogous situation. Plaintiff, Richards, sought a decree quieting title and an order requiring specific

⁷ Rule 3(d) of the Federal Rules of Appellate Procedure mandates that the notice of appeal designate the "judgment, order, or part thereof being appealed." designate the judgment, order, or part thereof being appealed." See *State v. Valdovinos*, 82 P.3d 1167 (Ut Ct. App 2003) encouraging appellants to reference all judgments appealed from in their notice of appeal.

⁸ Utah courts require specific objections in order 'to bring all claimed errors to the trial court's attention to give the court an opportunity to correct the errors if appropriate.'" *State v. Hardy*, 2002 UT App 244, ¶14, 54 P.3d 645 (quoting *State v. Brown*, 856 P.2d 358, 361 (Utah Ct. App. 1993)).

performance to sell certain real property. Defendant, Baum, counterclaimed.⁹ The trial court quieted title in favor of Baum. Richards appealed but failed to seek or obtain a stay of the trial court's decree.¹⁰ Similar to Zufelt's motion for summary disposition, Baum moved for dismissal of the appeal contending that it had become moot.¹¹

The *Richards* court then went on to discuss the effect of changed circumstances or the elimination of the controversy, or rendering of the relief requested "impossible or of no legal effect." *Richards*, at 720. In this case, the changed circumstances are that the proceeds were disbursed to Zufelt and the intervenor during the pendency of the appeal because Gounaris failed, among other things, to obtain a stay of the disbursement Order. See Appellee's Statement of Fact, No.'s 3-6 above.

Zufelt's position, like the defendant Baum contended in *Richards*, is that since the trial court entered the disbursement Order and no stay was obtained, Zufelt was free to treat the monies as his own.¹² The Richards Court agreed with Zufelt. In this case,

⁹ In this case as Gounaris concedes, Gounaris neither filed nor asserted a counterclaim

¹⁰ Gounaris unsuccessfully sought a stay but the Court rejected Gounaris' motion because it was deficient. See above Statement of Facts, No's 5-6 and Exhibit 1 hereto.

¹¹ The rationale for why the appeal had become moot was "[t]he strong judicial policy against giving advisory opinions dictates that courts refrain from adjudicating moot questions. *Richards*, p. 720.

¹² Zufelt (an allowed unsecured creditor with the largest claim in the bankruptcy estate of Haste's principal, Kallinikos) and the Bankruptcy Trustee(who voided a Gounaris transfer) obtained a judgment against Gounaris have stipulated to divide the monies between them 50/50. Zufelt's proof of claim will be reduced to the extent of his receipt of any funds from Gounaris. Similarly, if Zufelt were required to disgorge funds, Zufelt would file an

monies have been released by the Court's registry to Zufelt. Zufelt has retained approximately one-half of these monies and the other half were disbursed to a third-party, intervenor, a bankruptcy trustee. In the context of considering Gounaris' inadequate legal arguments, Gounaris must accept culpability for the Court's ruling. By his own admission, Gounaris concedes that he filed no objection to Zufelt's motion for dismissal.

The notice of appeal filed by Gounaris did not raise or include as part of the appeal the dismissal of Zufelt (with prejudice) from the case. The Notice of Appeal states that "[d]efendants appeal from the portion of the trial court's judgment which did '...not require the return of the \$59, 584.55 as requested by defendants' to the Registry of the trial court."¹³ Accordingly, this Court lacks jurisdiction to consider this appeal because the Court no longer has personal jurisdiction over Zufelt.¹⁴ *See Brigham Young University v. Tremco Consultants, Inc.*, 110 P.3d 678, (Utah 2005).

Without jurisdiction over Zufelt, the entity that received the funds which are the subject of this appeal, the appeal must be dismissed. Zufelt hereby renews his request for

amended proof of claim for an increased amount, i.e., whatever the amount is that Zufelt disgorges.

¹³ On March 15, 2007, Appellee filed a Motion for Summary Disposition of Appeal and accompanying Memorandum raising this very point. An Order by the Court of Appeals dated April 9, 2007 deferred ruling on the this motion "pending plenary presentation and consideration of the appeal. A copy of the Court's Order is attached hereto as Exhibit 2.

¹⁴ The trial Court had jurisdiction over Zufelt. However, when Gounaris failed to object to Zufelt's dismissal and the trial court granted Zufelt's motion to dismiss with prejudice—the Court lost jurisdiction. The court might have retained jurisdiction had Gounaris' appeal included the dismissal of Zufelt—it did not!

summary disposition of the appeal.¹⁵ Consequently, this issue is being raised improperly for the first time on appeal and is therefore untimely. *See R.T. Nielsen v. Cook*, 40 P.3d 1119 (Utah 2002).

As a general rule, appellate courts will not consider an issue, including a constitutional argument, raised for the first time on appeal unless the trial court committed plain error or the case involves exceptional circumstances. *State v. Brown*, 856 P.2d 358, 359 (Ut. Ct. App. 1993) "The trial court is considered 'the proper forum in which to commence thoughtful and probing analysis' of issues." *Id.* at 360 (quoting *State v. Bobo*, 803 P.2d 1268, 1273 (Utah Ct. App. 1990)). "Failing to argue an issue and present pertinent evidence in that forum denies the trial court 'the opportunity to make any findings of fact or conclusions of law' pertinent to the claimed error." *Id.* (quoting *LeBaron & Assocs., Inc. v. Rebel Enters., Inc.*, 823 P.2d 479, 483 n.6 (Utah Ct. App. 1991)).

The number of cases highlighting "...inadequate briefing are legion." *MacKay v. Hardy*, 973 P.2d 941, footnote 9 (Utah 1998). Gounaris' failure to adequately brief the trial court on both his motions is substantiated within the trial court's Ruling.

(Appellant's Brief, Exhibit 1). Gounaris has failed to marshal the evidence or show that

¹⁵ In *State v. Brown*, 856 P.2d 358 (UT App. 1993) Utah courts require specific objections in order 'to bring all claimed errors to the trial court's attention to give the court an opportunity to correct the errors if appropriate.'" *State v. Hardy*, 2002 UT App 244, ¶14, 54 P.3d 645 (quoting *State v. Brown*, 856 P.2d 358, 361 (Utah Ct. App. 1993)).